
OFFICIAL

BIRMINGHAM CITY COUNCIL

CORPORATE AND FINANCE OVERVIEW  & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE MEETING

Minutes of the meeting held on Friday, 28th March 2025 at 10.30 hours in 
Committee Room 3 & 4, Council House, Victoria Square, Birmingham

Present: 

Councillor Sir Albert Bore (Chair) 

Councillors Deirdre Alden, David Barker, Shabrana Hussain, Katherine Iroh, Kerry
Jenkins, Jamie Tennant and Alex Yip

Also Present:

Councillor Karen McCarthy, Cabinet Member for Finance, Birmingham City Council 
(BCC)

Laura Shoaff, Chief Executive, West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA)

James Hughes, Membership Relationship Manager, WMCA

Carol Culley, Executive Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer, BCC

Mohammed Sajid, Assistant Director of Financial Strategy, BCC

Steve Muldoon, Assistant Director of Financial Performance and Insight, BCC 
(Online)

Fiona Bottrill, Senior Overview and Scrutiny Manager, BCC
Sam Yarnall, Interim Scrutiny Officer, BCC

80. NOTICE OF WEBCAST

The Chair advised that the meeting would be webcast for live and subsequent
broadcast via the Council's Public-I microsite and that members of the press/public
may record and take photographs except where there were confidential or exempt
items. The Chair welcomed the new Executive Director of Finance and Section 151
Officer to the meeting and the Council as a whole. This meeting marked their first
meeting of the Committee with the new Officer.

81. APOLOGIES

There were apologies tendered by Cllrs Fred Grindrod, Ewan Mackey and Paul
Tilsley.



OFFICIAL

82. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST:

Members were reminded to declare all relevant pecuniary and other registerable
interests arising from any business to be discussed at this meeting, and declarations
of interest were declared by Cllr Jamie Tennant and Cllr Kerry Jenkins under item 6.
These were non-pecuniary interests as both were representatives on boards at the
WMCA. Cllr Kerry Jenkins also declared a pecuniary interest under item 7 of the
agenda due to their employment with Unite Union and left the room at the appropriate
times.

83. MINUTES:

RESOLVED: - 

That the minutes for the Corporate and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee
meeting held on 28 February 2025 be confirmed as a correct record, following the
spelling error being amended, and signed by the Chair.

84. CORPORATE AND FINANCE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTION
TRACKER:

The action tracker had been updated following the 28th February meeting and the
Chair informed Members that some of the actions that were over a year old were
removed. 

RESOLVED: - 

That the Corporate and Finance Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) Action 
Tracker was noted, and the new actions be taken forward.

85. WEST MIDLANDS COMBINED AUTHORITY WORK IN LOCAL AUTHORITY 
AREA

The Chair informed Members that this was the second report by the Combined 
Authority (WMCA), and it explored the work that they were doing within the city in 
more depth. The first report was presented to the Committee in November 2024. 
Laura Shoaf, Chief Executive Officer, and James Hughes, Member Relationship 
Manager, were present for this item from the WMCA

The Chief Executive Officer of the WMCA outlined that Birmingham was a 
constituent member of the Combined Authority (CA) for the last eight years and as a 
result this had led to just under £2 billion in investment for the Birmingham City 
Council area or £1709 per resident in the city. Members were informed that the 
information presented within the report was specific to the city, but not all the 
schemes were catered for Birmingham only but was accessible by the wider West 
Midlands area. It was noted that there were several schemes that was highlighted in 
the report, and these were delivered not just by the WMCA, but also by the Council, 



OFFICIAL

further education providers and the charity and voluntary sector. Members were 
informed that the information within the report highlighted the work to deliver the four 
Mayoral priorities. A part of this was to develop the skills and employment strategy 
for the region; this was to support residents to develop skills and further learning 
opportunities to support development. It was highlighted that there was an 
investment of £7 million in learning within the Birmingham area; 7000 residents were 
engaging with the scheme and there was 3000 that were accessing level three 
training programmes. 

Highlights from the report was discussed in relation to the improvement in the 
investment zone of the city as well as upcoming changes with the integrated 
settlement to support development of new homes in the city. Since 2016, there was a
reported £400 million of investment in the city to support the growth of new homes. 
There was also £7.9 million of investment in subsidised bus routes with a £155,000 
bus support grant offering free bus travel. There was a recorded 90% of employees 
on the Birmingham Eastside Extension were local to the scheme, and this was 
advertised in career events within schools and colleges. Following the update 
Members made the following questions and comments:

 The Chair asked the representatives of the WMCA if there was anything that 
the Committee should be made aware of or if there was anything that they 
would have done differently. The Chief Executive of the WMCA explained that 
the cost of materials in relation to large capital development schemes was an 
area that had caused concern and that they were lobbying central government
for additional funding resources to support infrastructure growth. In terms of 
areas that could had been done differently or improved, Members were 
advised that there was always room for improvement such as with the bus 
service and the ongoing financial challenges experienced by all.

 Members asked for clarity on the metro, highlighted in page 47 of the report, 
and if the remaining development within the Edgbaston area was the 
extension on long the Hagley Road. The Chief Executive explained that the 
work was to address signalling concerns.

 Members expressed their disappointed in certain areas such as Edgbaston 
and noted the increased emphasis on developing the bus network. It was also
noted that residents had shared their displeasure with them on the removal of 
tram conductors, a matter that was raised when the WMCA was last in 
attendance. The concern was over safety especially in the evenings as well 
as perception of increased non-fare paying passengers. The Chief Executive 
explained that the concern over further extensions of the tram service was 
impacted by several factors such as the business case process set out by HM
Government to approve future developments. In terms of the concerns raised 
regarding the trams not having full-time conductors, this was based on an 
evaluation to ensure that the staff were kept safe and that there were no job 
loses. As part of the changes to the operation of the metro, staff were given 



OFFICIAL

body cameras to capture instances of anti-social behaviour. The changes 
were said to be evaluated at a later stage to determine if there was a 
difference with less conductors and if payments had increased with the new 
system. This evaluation was said to be continuous and regularly reported to 
their Transport Scrutiny Board. 

 Members asked about the governance and joint working arrangements 
between the WMCA, the Council and Solihull Council and whether the 
working arrangements were effective as well as supporting local providers. 
The Chief Executive informed Members that the governance arrangements 
were different than normal arrangements, but it was highlighted that within the
enterprise zone, this was governed by the BCC. There was further investment
and partnership working in these areas to address concerns, but it was 
recognised that the Councils had similar challenges and would work to 
address these.

 Members asked about the governance arrangements within the knowledge 
quarter. This was part of the investment zone, and it had its own working 
arrangements with a member led board Chaired by the Mayor. Members were
also updated that the investment zone included the work on the future of 
transport arrangements. It was noted that these were requirements set by the 
government and that the new Procurement Act had meant further work and 
policy development. 

 Members commented on the increased cost of resources and asked for 
further information on the bus consultation. The Members Relationship 
Manager of the WMCA explained that the consultation concluded recently and
there were almost 4000 respondents to the consultation. There had already 
been an all-Member briefing for Birmingham councillors at the start of the 
consultation. 

 Members asked about social housing provided by the WMCA and how many 
would go to Birmingham and if the benchmark had increased. Members were 
informed that there had been additional funding in this area to increase 
intervention rates which would allow for more social and affordable housing. 
Members were also told about the impact of devolution and retrofit funding 
and that there was further opportunities for more funding. 

 Members asked what the Mayor of the West Midlands view on the bin strike 
was. Officers did not comment on this matter. Cllr Kerry Jenkins left the room 
at 10.58am and re-entered the room at 11.03 once the discussion around 
Unions and the recent bin strikes concluded due to a pecuniary interest.

 Members discussed youth unemployment in the city and highlighted that there
was a recorded percentage of 13.7% of young people unemployed in the city. 
This was reported to be almost double the UK average and was higher than 
figure prior to the COVID-19 Pandemic. There was additional grant funding to 
address this. Members asked representatives of the WMCA what the future of
learning and development strategies that would help address this concern and



OFFICIAL

urged for effective governance to support these. The Chief Executive 
recognised that youth unemployment was a concern in the region and there 
was a pledge from the Mayor in tackling this under their youth plan. This 
included an integrated settlement to look at new ways of addressing the 
problem. The WMCA was said to be working with various partners like the 
charity sector and academic institutions, such as the University of 
Birmingham, to provide opportunities and learn how best to address the issue.

 Members asked about the travel schemes and that they have had delays with 
recent projects. The Chief Executive said that further discussions in the 
specifics would be taken offline but did highlight a single assurance 
framework that must be used to receive devolved funding to support future 
developments. 

 Members shared disappointment with previous non-engagement with ward 
councillors and urged for better partnership working especially in areas like 
highways. The WMCA highlighted that the highways authorities were the 
Local Authorities and the CA was the Transport Authority but that there were 
collective endeavours to work together for greater collaboration towards 
shared goals. It was highlighted that there would be better engagement with 
councillors going forward with future developments of rail systems and 
developments along highways. 

 Members asked about data of bus usage, particularly, usage between those 
that were eligible for free bus travel and those that paid. Members were 
informed that this data was not collected as part of the franchise assessment. 

 Members asked for further details on the bus details to be shared and if there 
were opportunities for a cost benefit analysis to be conducted. It was also 
highlighted that there were discussions that many of the travel technologies 
used in the metro and buses were out of date. Representatives from the 
WMCA highlighted that technology had developed significantly in recent years
and that there were further developments being made especially with the light 
rail system. This was to support keeping costs low and there was a tram 
system being trialled in Coventry at the time of the meeting. 

The Chair thanked officers of the WMCA for attending and providing further 
information to the work that they were conducting in the city. Members agreed the 
recommendations.

RESOLVED – that the contents of the report, be noted by the Committee.

85. QUARTER 3 2024/25 FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

The Executive Director, Director of Finance and S151 Officer and Assistant Director 
of Financial Strategy and Deputy S151 Officer presented the report to the 
Committee. This report went to Cabinet the previous week to update on the Council’s
budget financial position for 2024/25 in Quarter 3. The update highlighted that the 
position was focussed on the previous years budget and not the upcoming budget 



OFFICIAL

delivery. The report was said to cover more than just the revenue of the Council, but 
also the savings delivered, the housing revenue account and actions to mitigate 
further loss of income. Members were informed that there was a recorded £5.6 
million overspend in the accounts and this had been addressed in the budget 
proposals that were presented as part of the budget setting process. The Executive 
Director had noted that Members had expressed an interest at looking at the Capital 
Programme as a future item of business. They highlighted that there had been work 
to improve the governance of the capital programme and would be able to bring an 
update to the Committee. Members were informed that there was improved and 
debts written off but there were still outstanding debts and further improvement to be 
made. Following the update, Members asked the following questions and comments:

 The Chair raised that on page 3 of the report it highlighted that there had been
an increase of £71.8 million in balances and asked of the impact that the 
increase had on the overall budget. The Director of Financial Strategy 
explained that the impact would be determined by the type of reserve as 
some would be ring-fenced and the impact for them would be minimal. 
Overall, it was explained that the general efficiencies and impact was vague 
but there was work ongoing to keep risk low.

 The Chair asked Officers for their comment of the pressures in the 2023/24 
budget with the levels of spending under the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) and asked about the resources efficiencies and what they were in 
relation to reserves. The Director of Financial Strategy explained that the 
reserves impacted as part of the pressures were accounted for in grant or 
earmarked reserves.

 The Chair commented that there was concern with underspend in early years 
being lower than expected especially in contrast to the adult and social care 
needs being delivered.

 The Chair raised the Commissioners’ comments within the report and 
highlighted that the format of the report made it hard to refer to which part 
their comments related to. Officers noted to look at the format for future 
reports. In terms of the comments provided by the Commissioners, it was 
noted that the impact resulted from voluntary redundancies of ex-employees.

 The Chair raised that table 1 in the report, summary of general fund forecast, 
gives a corporate overview and table 2 illustrated income variations but noted 
that there was not a link between the two to explain a £14.5 million 
underspend on corporately managed budgets.

 The Chair commented on the “under-two’s” offer outlined in the report as well 
as the financial monitoring of the Children’s and Family Directorate and 
suggested that this would be brought up at the Education, Children and Young
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Cabinet Member for Finance 
responded in relation to the “under-two’s” offer and pointed out that the uptake
noted in the report had some residual effect from the COVID-19 Pandemic, 



OFFICIAL

but the performance was being monitored, and a report went to the previous 
Cabinet meeting.

 Members commented on the volatility of the Council’s finances and 
highlighted the impact of decision making and the associated risks within the 
report was unclear. It was also highlighted that the Council had historical 
issues with extending the amount of borrowing which delayed writing them off.

 There was a request for a further breakdown on the earmarked reserves and 
Officers agreed to provide this at a later stage.

 Members commented on the housing revenue outlined in the report and that 
there was a forecasted £5.6 million deficit and that the mitigations within the 
report were vague. 

 There was a further question by Members on the underspend in early years 
provisions and asked that the impact of the underspend and poor uptake in 
the under-twos provision was a result of the increase complexities in the 
cohort or impact from the Council’s service reduction.

 Under treasury management, Members commented that the loan amount had 
increased to £3.1 billion due to a one-off underspend in capital investment. 
Clarity was asked in relation to this point by Members.

 A question was asked on the home to school transport, where the shortfall 
was welcomed, it was noted that there was a clash in the academic year and 
concern of the mitigations in place and how it translated to the overall financial
monitoring.

 The Executive Director of Finance responded to the points raised and 
highlighted that the concerns were not just unique to Birmingham but were 
concerns that was being faced across the country. In terms of extending 
loans, they said that they were risk averse and would note the learning from 
the team and organisation that was made to develop plans. Members 
comments on the quarter 4 position and additional breakdowns of finances 
were noted but Officers were not in the position to comment at this stage. 

 There were no further comments from Officers on the under-twos offer and 
there was clarity over the process of extending a loan which included 
presenting it to Cabinet and Council for approval. Officers were happy to 
share information on some of the breakdown of the loans that were discussed
within the report especially those used for capital investment. 

 Members commented on the good work surrounding debt collection and 
reducing levels of debts but noted the consistent overspend within housing. 
Officers commented that there were a lot of collaboration and cross-
directorate working in relation to debt collection. Officers also commented that
a further breakdown on the housing financial monitoring could be provided.

 Members discussed the two overspends detailed in the report by the 
Children’s trust. It was noted that home to school transport historically had a 
large overspend for a few reasons; this concern was also highlighted in the 
budget task and finish group which the Chair highlighted within paragraph 1.8 



OFFICIAL

of the budget response report by the Committee. The Executive Director of 
Finance responded to the comments and noted the concerns raised and 
discussed that further delays in delivering the savings created further risks. 
The Cabinet Member for Finance explained that as the authority moved into 
the new financial year, that the pressure to continue to identify savings and 
plan for future year budgets would not be paused.

 Members were reassured by the comments of the Cabinet Member for 
Finance’s commitment to continue planning the budget and savings delivery 
programmes. 

 Members noted that they were not as surprised with the low uptake of the 
Under-Two’s offer as the provision was noted to be of a poor quality and in 
some cases occurred additional costs for residents.

 Members asked what was being done to prevent further delays with savings 
being delivered, an example of the issues around the Perry Barr area was 
mentioned. The Executive Director for Finance explained that there was 
further work within the directorates to look at the governance for the different 
savings. The Assistant Director of Financial Strategy explained that the 
budget that was set last February created a fixed budget to hold directorates 
to account. As part of this, it reiterated the point made about exploring 
governance arrangements and to monitor the slippage in delivery; a point that 
was raised by the Committee last year as part of the budget setting process.

 Cllr Kerry Jenkins left at 12.09pm due to a pecuniary interest.
 Members asked for further information on the £3.1million overspend on street 

scene. Officers explained that this was being monitored as part of quarter 4 
and that further information would be provided at a later stage. Officers 
advised that was best to not speculate till the report was ready to be 
presented. 

 Members asked about the financial impacts and costs of the ongoing waste 
strike. Officers highlighted that they did not have the information to hand and 
was willing to present the information to the relevant overview and scrutiny 
committee. The Cabinet Member explained that they were fully briefed on the 
situation and once the information was ready to be circulated it would be 
shared with the Committee.

 Cllr Kerry Jenkins re-entered at 12:14pm
 The Senior Overview and Scrutiny Manager noted Members comments on the

discussion and highlighted a need to include the disabled facilities grant as an
item of business on future work programmes.

The Chair thanked Officers and the Cabinet Member for attending and 
presenting. The recommendations were agreed by the Committee.

RESOLVED – that the contents of the report in Appendix 1, be noted by the 
Committee.



OFFICIAL

86. WORK PROGRAMME

The Senior Overview and Scrutiny Manager provided the update on the Scrutiny 
Work Programme for the Committee. Members were informed that the next meeting, 
2 May 2025, would be the last meeting of the municipal year. Following the update, 
Members raised the following points:

 Members commented on the timeliness of information being presented under 
the Improvement Recovery Plan and Savings Delivery Plan report to ensure 
that the data was as relevant as possible. The Chair reminded Members that 
they wrote to the Managing Director and met with the Deputy Chief Executive 
on this matter. Work was ongoing to explore how information could be 
provided in a timelier manner. 

 Members commented on the Commissioners’ view on the work programme 
and explore the Commissioners’ expectations of scrutiny. 

 Members were advised that the second commissioner report was due for 
publication and that this be brought to the attention of the Committee for 
scrutiny.

Following this, Members agreed the recommendations.

RESOLVED-

That:

i) The work programme, set out in Appendix A and amended at the meeting be
agreed. 

ii) The work programmes of the other six Overview and Scrutiny Committees
attached as Appendix B be noted.

87. REQUESTS FOR CALL-IN/COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION/PETITIONS (IF 
ANY)

None.

88. OTHER URGENT BUSINESS:

None. 

89. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the next scheduled meeting would take place on 2nd May 2025 at 10:30am.

The meeting ended at 12:26PM

Chair’s signature:


	CORPORATE AND FINANCE Overview & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE Meeting
	Minutes of the meeting held on Friday, 28th March 2025 at 10.30 hours in Committee Room 3 & 4, Council House, Victoria Square, Birmingham


